

The Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF): State Insolvency and Federal Loans to States

(name redacted)
Specialist in Income Security

February 10, 2015

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov

RS22954

Summary

Although states have a great deal of autonomy in how they establish and run their unemployment insurance programs, federal law requires states to pay Unemployment Compensation (UC) benefits promptly as provided under state law. During some recessions, current taxes and reserve balances may be insufficient to cover state obligations for UC benefits. States may borrow funds from the federal loan account within the Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF) to meet UC benefit obligations.

This report summarizes how insolvent states may borrow funds from the UTF loan account to meet their UC benefit obligations. It includes the manner in which states must repay federal UTF loans. It also provides details on how the UTF loans may trigger potential interest accrual and explains the timetable for increased net Federal Unemployment Taxes Act (FUTA) taxes if the funds are not repaid promptly.

Outstanding loans listed by state may be found at the Department of Labor's (DOL's) website: http://www.workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/budget.asp#tfloans.

Contents

Unemployment Compensation, Unemployment Taxes, and a State's Obligation to Pay Benefits	1
State and Federal Unemployment Taxes	
State Unemployment Taxes	
Federal Unemployment Taxes	
States Required to Pay UC Benefits	
Funds Available for Loans to States Within the UTF	3
Mechanism for Receiving a Loan from the UTF	4
Loan Repayment	4
Federal Tax Increases on Outstanding Loans Through Credit Reductions	
Basic Credit Reduction	
Additional Credit Reductions: 2.7 Add-on and Benefit-Cost Ratio Add-on	
Avoiding Some or All of the Credit Reduction	
Revenue from Credit Reductions Reduces State UTF Loans	
Interest Charges on Loans	7
Status of Outstanding Loans, Accrued Interest Owed, and State Tax Credit Reductions	9
Tables	
Table 1. Schedule of State Tax Credit Reduction and Net Federal Unemployment Tax Act (FUTA) Tax	5
Table 2. Outstanding Loan Balances, Interest Owed,	
and Potential State Tax Credit Reduction (January 2, 2015)	10
Table 3. State Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF) Accounts: Financial Information by State, 3 rd Quarter Calendar Year 2014	11
	11
Contacts	
Author Contact Information	13

Unemployment Compensation, Unemployment Taxes, and a State's Obligation to Pay Benefits

Unemployment Compensation (UC) is a joint federal-state program financed by federal payroll taxes under the Federal Unemployment Tax Act¹ (FUTA) and by state payroll taxes under State Unemployment Tax Acts (SUTA).² These revenues are deposited into the appropriate account within the federal Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF).

Originally, the intent of the UC program, among other goals, was to help counter economic fluctuations such as recessions.³ This intent is reflected in the current UC program's funding and benefit structure. When the economy grows, UC program revenue rises through increased tax revenues. At the same time, UC program spending falls because fewer workers are unemployed. The effect of collecting more taxes while decreasing spending on benefits dampens demand in the economy. It also creates a surplus of funds, or a *reserve fund*, for the UC program to draw upon during a recession. These reserve balances are credited in the state's account within the UTF. During an economic slowdown or recession, UC tax revenue falls and UC program spending rises as more workers lose their jobs and receive UC benefits. The increased amount of UC payments to unemployed workers dampens the economic effect of lost earnings by injecting additional funds into the economy.

State and Federal Unemployment Taxes

State Unemployment Taxes

States levy their own payroll taxes (SUTA) on employers to fund regular UC benefits and the state share (50%) of the Extended Benefit (EB) program.⁴ Federal laws and regulations provide broad guidelines for these state taxes. Each state deposits its SUTA revenue into its account within the UTF.

SUTA revenue finances UC benefits. Generally, when economic activity is robust and increasing, SUTA revenue is greater than a state's UC expenditures. As a result, the state's reserves within the UTF grow. This trend is reversed during economic recessions and during the early economic recovery period, when the state's reserves are drawn down and new SUTA revenue does not always make up the shortfall.

 $^{^1\ \}S\$3301\text{--}3311$ of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (26 U.S.C. $\S\$3301\text{--}33011$).

² The underlying framework of the Unemployment Compensation (UC) program is contained in the Social Security Act (SSA). Title III of the SSA authorizes grants to states for the administration of state UC laws, Title IX authorizes the various components of the federal Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF), and Title XII authorizes advances or loans to insolvent state UC programs.

³ See, for example, President Franklin Roosevelt's remarks at the signing of the SSA at http://www.ssa.gov/history/fdrstmts.html#signing.

⁴ The Extended Benefit (EB) program was established by the Federal-State Extended Unemployment Compensation Act of 1970 (EUCA), P.L. 91-373 (26 U.S.C. 3304, note). EUCA may extend receipt of unemployment benefits by 13 weeks or 20 weeks at the state level if certain economic situations exist within the state. For details, see CRS Report RL33362, *Unemployment Insurance: Programs and Benefits*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

If the recession is deep enough and if SUTA revenue is inadequate for long periods of time, states may have insufficient funds to pay for UC benefits. Federal law, which requires states to pay these benefits, provides a loan mechanism within the UTF framework that an insolvent state may opt to use to meet its UC benefit payment obligations. States must pay back these loans. If the loans are not paid back quickly (depending on the timing of the beginning of the loan period), states may face interest charges and the states' employers may face increased net FUTA rates until the loans are repaid.

In the years immediately following the most recent recession, many states had insufficient SUTA revenue and UTF account balances to pay UC benefits.

Federal Unemployment Taxes

All FUTA revenue is deposited into the Employment Security Administration Account (ESAA) within the UTF. Federal unemployment taxes pay for the federal share of EB (50%) and for administrative grants to the states. Additionally, through the federal loan account within the UTF, FUTA funds may be loaned to insolvent states to assist the payment of the states' UC obligations.

Net FUTA Rate Is 0.6%

FUTA imposes a 6.0% gross federal unemployment tax rate on the first \$7,000 paid annually by employers to each employee. Employers in states with programs approved by the U.S. Labor Secretary and with no outstanding federal loans may credit up to 5.4 percentage points of state unemployment taxes paid against the 6.0% tax rate, making the minimum net federal unemployment tax rate 0.6%.⁶

Because most employees earn more than the \$7,000 taxable wage ceiling in a calendar year, the FUTA tax typically is \$42 per worker per year ($$7,000 \times 0.6\%$), or just over 2 cents per hour for a full-time, year-round worker.

States Required to Pay UC Benefits

States have a great deal of autonomy in how they establish and run their unemployment insurance programs. However, the framework established by federal laws is clear and requires states to promptly pay the UC benefits as provided under state law.⁸

⁵ Federal unemployment compensation law does not restrict the states from using loan resources outside of the UTF. Depending on state law, states may have other funding measures available and may be able to use funds from outside of the UTF to pay the benefits (such as issuing bonds).

⁶ §3304 of FUTA (26 U.S.C. §3304) allows up to 5.4% credit for *actual* state unemployment taxes paid. Additionally, under §3303 of FUTA (26 U.S.C. §3303), employers that paid less than a 5.4% rate in state unemployment taxes are eligible for an *additional* state tax credit of up to 5.4%. The total state tax credit (actual and additional) on federal unemployment tax calculation is restricted to be no more than 5.4%. Thus, all employers in states with approved UC programs receive a 5.4% credit in the calculation of FUTA, even if the employer paid less than a 5.4% rate in state unemployment taxes.

⁷ Assuming a full-time, year-round worker works 52 weeks per year and 40 hours per week (for 2,080 hours per year), $42 \div 2080 = \$0.0202$.

^{§ §3304} of FUTA (26 U.S.C. §3304). If the state does not pay the UC benefits, federal law is explicit. The state will not have a UC program meeting federal requirements, and thus the federal unemployment tax paid by employers on each (continued...)

In budgetary terms, UC benefits are an entitlement (although the program is financed by a dedicated tax imposed on employers and not by general revenue). Thus, even if a recession hits a given state and, as a result, that state's trust fund account is depleted, the state remains legally required to continue paying benefits. To do so, the state might borrow money either from the dedicated loan account within the UTF or from outside sources.

If the state chooses to borrow funds from the UTF, not only will the state be required to continue paying benefits, it also will be required to repay the funds (plus any interest due) it has borrowed from the federal loan account within a few years. Such states may need to raise taxes on their employers or reduce UC benefit levels, actions that dampen economic growth, job creation, and consumer demand. In short, states have strong incentives to keep adequate funds in their trust fund accounts.

If the state borrows from sources outside the UTF, the state would not be subject to the loan restrictions described below. Instead, the state would be subject to the terms within that outside loan agreement, which might offer a different (more favorable) interest rate or repayment schedule but may include fees to establish the loan.

Funds Available for Loans to States Within the UTF

The Federal Unemployment Account (FUA) is the federal loan account within the UTF. Two automatic funding sources are available within the FUA. Additionally, the FUA may borrow funds from other federal accounts within the UTF or (if needed) from the general fund of the U.S. Treasury. Since FY2009, the FUA has had to borrow funds from the U.S. Treasury to finance loans to the state accounts.

- 1. Excess revenue from the Extended Unemployment Compensation Account (EUCA) is deposited into the FUA. ¹⁰ In FY2014, the EUCA net balance was an estimated shortfall of (negative) \$18.3 billion. Thus, no EUCA funds were distributed to the FUA in FY2014.
- 2. Revenue from additional FUTA taxes paid by employers when a reduced credit against federal unemployment taxes exists because the state has an outstanding unpaid loan from FUA is deposited into the FUA. (See the discussion below on "Federal Tax Increases on Outstanding Loans Through Credit Reductions" for a more detailed explanation of these additional taxes.)
- 3. Federal law allows the FUA to borrow available funds from the other federal (EUCA and ESAA) accounts within the UTF.¹¹

-

employee's annual earnings would be a net tax of 6.0% (with no allowable state tax credit) rather than 0.6% if the state UC program paid benefits and had no outstanding loans.

^{(...}continued)

⁹ The Federal Unemployment Account (FUA).

¹⁰ Following federal law, at the end of every month 20% of all newly collected FUTA revenue is deposited into EUCA, which is authorized to pay for the federal share of EB. The EUCA balance is limited to the maximum of 0.5% of covered wages (\$25.99 billion in FY2014). If the EUCA balance exceeds the limitation, the excess is distributed to the FUA.

¹¹ 42 U.S.C. 1110.

4. Federal law also authorizes appropriations as loans from the general fund of the U.S. Treasury if balances in the federal accounts are insufficient to cover their expenditures. ¹² (For example, if the states' borrowing needs exceed the available FUA balance.) Such appropriations require discretionary action by Congress and the President. ¹³

Mechanism for Receiving a Loan from the UTF

Once a state recognizes that it does not have sufficient funds to pay UC benefits, the mechanism for receiving a loan from the UTF is straightforward. The state's governor (or the governor's designee) must submit a letter requesting that the U.S. Labor Secretary advance funds to the state account within the UTF. Once the loan is approved by the U.S. Labor Secretary, the funds are placed into the state account in monthly increments.

Loan Repayment

States with outstanding loans from the UTF must repay them fully by the November 10 following the second consecutive January 1 on which the state has an outstanding loan. If the outstanding loan is not repaid by that time, the state will face an effective federal tax increase. Thus, a state may have approximately 22 months (if borrowing began on January 1) to 34 months (if borrowing began on January 2) to repay the loan without a federal tax increase, depending on when it obtained the outstanding loan.

As of January 2, 2015, approximately \$14.0 billion in federal UTF loans to the states was outstanding. A current list of states with outstanding loans may be found at the Department of Labor's (DOL's) website, http://www.workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/budget.asp#tfloans.

Federal Tax Increases on Outstanding Loans Through Credit Reductions

If the state does not repay a loan by November 10 of the second year, ¹⁴ the state becomes subject to a reduction in the amount of state unemployment tax credit applied against the federal unemployment tax beginning with the preceding January 1 until the state repays the loan fully. Depending on the duration of the loan and certain other measures, one or more of three different credit reductions may be required. These reductions are fully catalogued in **Table 1**. At the height of the period following the most recent recession (2011), 20 states and the Virgin Islands faced increased FUTA rates because of outstanding UTF loans. ¹⁵

-

¹² 42 U.S.C. 1323.

¹³ At the end of FY2013, the FUA owed \$8.42 billion to the general fund of the U.S. Treasury, and it owed an additional \$0.4 billion to the other federal accounts within the UTF. The FUA also had \$19.96 billion in promissory notes (outstanding loans) that states are required to repay.

¹⁴ The "second year" is the year when the state has outstanding UTF loans on January 1 for the second January 1 in a row. Depending on the timing when the first loan began, it may actually be the third year of the loan.

¹⁵ See http://ows.doleta.gov/unemploy/docs/reduced credit states.xlsx.

Basic Credit Reduction

The credit reduction is initially 0.3 percentage points for the year beginning with the calendar year in which the second consecutive January 1 passes during which the loan is outstanding and increases by 0.3 percentage points for each year there is an outstanding loan. For example, in the first year, the credit reduction results in the net federal tax rate increasing from 0.6% to 0.9%—an additional \$21 for each employee; in the second year, it would increase to 1.2%—a cumulative additional \$42 for each employee.

Additional Credit Reductions: 2.7 Add-on and Benefit-Cost Ratio Add-on

Two potential other credit reductions exist (in addition to the cumulative 0.3 percentage point increases) during the ensuing calendar years in which a state has an outstanding loan:

- 1. Beginning in the third year, the 2.7 add-on uses a statutory formula that takes into consideration the average annual wages and average employment contribution rate. In 2012 and 2013, the Virgin Islands was subject to this 2.7 add-on.
- 2. Beginning in the fifth year, the Benefit-Cost Ratio (BCR) add-on replaces the 2.7 add-on and uses the five-year benefit-cost rate as well as average wages in its calculation. ¹⁷

Table 1 presents these reductions and the subsequent net FUTA tax faced by state employers as a result of these unpaid loans. If any January 1 passes without an outstanding balance, the year count starts over with the next loan. DOL maintains a list of potential reduced credit states at http://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/docs/reduced credit states.xlsx.

Table 1. Schedule of State Tax Credit Reduction and Net Federal Unemployment
Tax Act (FUTA) Tax

Loan Year	Credit Reduction	Additional Reductions	Net FUTA Tax (0.6% + credit reductions)
Year I of outstanding loan	0.0%	None	0.6%
Year 2 (applied retroactively at end of calendar year)	0.3%	None	0.9%
Year 3	0.6%	2.7 Add-on	1.2% or morea
Year 4	0.9%	2.7 Add-on	1.5% or more ^a
Year 5	1.2%	BCR Add-on	1.8% or moreb
Year 6	1.5%	BCR Add-on	2.1% or more ^b
Year 7	1.8%	BCR Add-on	2.4% or more ^b
Year 8	2.1%	BCR Add-on	2.7% or more ^b

 $^{^{16}}$ The 2.7 add-on formula is [(2.7% \times 7000 \div U.S. Annual Average Wage) - Average Annual State Tax Rate on Total Wages] \times State Annual Average Wage \div 7000.

¹⁷ The Benefit-Cost Ratio (BCR) add-on formula is: Max [Five-year Average State Unemployment UC Outlays ÷ Taxable Wages, 2.7] - Average Annual State Unemployment Tax Rate on Total Wages.

Loan Year	Credit Reduction	Additional Reductions	Net FUTA Tax (0.6% + credit reductions)	
Year 9	2.4%	BCR Add-on	3.0% or moreb	
Year 10	2.7%	BCR Add-on	3.3% or moreb	
Year II	3.0%	BCR Add-on	3.6% or moreb	
Year 12	3.3%	BCR Add-on	3.9% or moreb	
Year 13	3.6%	BCR Add-on	4.2% or moreb	
Year 14	3.9%	BCR Add-on	4.5% or moreb	
Year 15	4.2%	BCR Add-on	4.8% or moreb	
Year 16	4.5%	BCR Add-on	5.1% or moreb	
Year 17	4.8%	BCR Add-on	5.4% or moreb	
Year 18	5.1%	BCR Add-on	5.7% or more ^b	
Year 19	5.4%	BCR Add-on	6.0%	

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration.

Notes: 2.7 Add-on = $[(2.7\% \times 7000 \div U.S. Annual Average Wage) - Average Annual State Tax Rate on Total Wages] <math>\times$ State Annual Average Wage \div 7000.

Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) Add-on = Max [Five-year Average State Unemployment Compensation Outlays ÷ Taxable Wages, 2.7] - Average Annual State Unemployment Tax Rate on Total Wages.

- a. Exact tax depends upon 2.7 Add-on calculation.
- b. Exact net tax depends upon BCR Add-on calculation (or the 2.7 Add-on calculation, if the BCR Add-on is waived).

Avoiding Some or All of the Credit Reduction

Section 272 of P.L. 97-248 allows a delinquent state the option of repaying—on or before November 9—a portion of its outstanding loans each year through transfer of a specified amount from its account in the UTF to the FUA.

If the state complies with all the requirements listed below, the potential credit reduction is avoided (there is no reduction):

- The state must repay all loans for the most recent one-year period ending on November 9, plus the potential additional taxes that would have been imposed for the tax year based upon a state tax credit reduction.
- The state must have sufficient amounts in the state account of the UTF to pay all compensation for the last quarter of that calendar year without receiving a loan.
- The state also must have altered its state law to increase the net solvency of its account with the UTF.

From 2011 through 2014, South Carolina met these requirements. As a result, employers in South Carolina were not subject to a state tax credit reduction in the calculation of their FUTA taxes. (Generally, employers in South Carolina would have paid more in state unemployment taxes to meet these requirements.)

Avoiding Credit Reduction: Cap

Once a state begins to have a credit reduction, the state may apply to have the reductions capped if the state meets four criteria:

- No legislative or other action in 12 months ending September 30 has been taken to decrease the state's unemployment tax effort. (A state cannot actively decrease its expected state unemployment tax revenue from current law.)
- No legislative or other action has been taken to decrease the net solvency of the state's trust fund account. (For example, the state would not be allowed to actively increase the average UC benefit amount from current law requirements.)
- Average state unemployment tax rate on total wages must exceed the five-year average benefit-cost rate on total wages.
- Balance of outstanding loans as of September 30 must not be greater than the balance three years before.

Waiving the BCR Add-on

The BCR add-on may be waived if the Secretary of Labor determines the state did not take legislative or other actions to decrease the net solvency of the state's trust fund account. The 2.7 add-on would then replace the BCR add-on.¹⁸

Revenue from Credit Reductions Reduces State UTF Loans

The additional federal taxes attributable to the credit reduction are applied against the state's outstanding UTF loan. Thus, although technically employers are paying additional FUTA taxes, the additional tax pays off a state's debt. The state's employers will pay the additional federal taxes resulting from the credit reduction no later than January 31 of the next calendar year.

Interest Charges on Loans

Since April 1, 1982 (P.L. 97-35, as amended), states have been charged interest on new loans that are not repaid by the end of the fiscal year in which they were obtained. (Before April 1, 1982, states could receive these loans interest free.)²⁰

_

¹⁸ Eleven states applied for the BCR waiver for FY2014. See http://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/docs/final_credit_states_2014.xlsx for details. Connecticut opted not to apply for the waiver and thus was subject to the BCR add-on.

¹⁹ Interest payments can be delayed up to 9 months (and no interest on the unpaid interest would accrue) if the most recent 12-month average unemployment rate (from September of the previous year to August of that year) is 13.5% or higher (42 U.S.C. §1322(b)(9)). If the state's January through June average insured unemployment rate (IUR) in the previous year is 6.5% or higher, the state would be required to pay 25% of that current year's interest that is due calculations (42 U.S.C. §1322(b)(3)(C)). (The IUR is the ratio of UC claimants divided by individuals in UC-covered jobs. It excludes unemployed workers who have exhausted their UC benefits, as well as the self-employed.) The state then would pay the remaining 25% in each of the next three years. The remainder of the interest payment would be not be subject to additional interest.

²⁰ §2004 of P.L. 111-5 temporarily waived interest payments and the accrual of interest on loans. The interest payments (continued...)

The interest is the same rate as that paid by the federal government on state reserves in the UTF for the quarter ending December 31 of the preceding year but not higher than 10% per annum. The interest rate for calendar year loans is determined by Section 1202(b)(4) of the Social Security Act. The interest rate for a calendar year is the earnings yield on the UTF for the quarter ending December 31 of the previous calendar year. The U.S. Treasury Department calculated the fourth-quarter earnings yield in 2014 to be 2.3385%. Thus, loans made in calendar year 2015 are subject to an interest rate of 2.3385%.

States may not pay the interest directly or indirectly from SUTA revenue or funds in their state account within the UTF. If a state does not repay the interest, or if it pays the interest with funds from SUTA taxes, DOL is required by federal law to refuse to certify that state's program as being in compliance with federal law.²² Not being in compliance with federal unemployment law would mean that the state would not be eligible to receive administrative grants and its state employers would not receive the state unemployment tax credit in the calculation of their federal unemployment taxes.

States may borrow funds without interest from the UTF during the year. To receive these interest-free loans, the states must meet five conditions:

- 1. The states must repay the loans by September 30.
- 2. For those repaid (by September 30) loans to maintain their interest-free status, there cannot be any loans made to that state in October, November, or December of the calendar year of such an interest-free loan. If loans are made in the last quarter of the calendar year, the "interest-free" loans made in the previous fiscal year will retroactively accrue interest charges.
- 3. The states must meet funding goals relating to their account in the UTF, established under regulations issued by DOL.

In addition to these first three requirements, the phase-in of two new requirements began in 2014.²³ The full effect of the requirements will begin in 2019.²⁴

(...continued)

-

that were due from the time of enactment (February 17, 2009) until December 31, 2010, were deemed to have been made. No interest on advances accrued during the period. Although interest did not accrue during this period, this did *not* absolve states from repaying the underlying loans. If a state did not pay back funds within the prescribed amount of time or make good progress as determined by the Labor Secretary, the state tax credit was reduced. On January 1, 2011, the calculation of interest reverted to permanent law on interest charges.

²¹ Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, *Interest Rate on Title XII Advances During Calendar Year (CY) 2015*, Unemployment Insurance Program Letter (UIPL) 7-15, Washington, DC, January 20, 2015, http://wdr.doleta.gov/directives/attach/UIPL/UIPL_7-15_Acc.pdf.

²² 26 U.S.C. §3304(a)(17) and 42 C.F.R. §503(c)(3).

²³ Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program Funding Goals for Interest-Free Loans," *75 Federal Register* 57146, September 17, 2010.

²⁴ The U.S. Department of Labor publishes an annual report on the details of each state's solvency measures used in the determination of interest-free loans: Office of Unemployment Insurance, Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, *State Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund Solvency Report*, 2014, http://www.workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/docs/trustFundSolvReport.pdf.

- 4. States must have had at least one year in the past five calendar years before the year in which advances are taken in which the Average High Cost Multiple²⁵ (AHCM) was greater than or equal to 1.0.
- 5. Additionally, states must meet two criteria for maintenance of tax effort in every year from the most recent year the AHCM was at least 1.0 and the year in which loans are taken.
 - a. The average state unemployment tax rate (total state unemployment tax amount collected over total taxable wages) was at least 80% of the prior year's rate.
 - b. The average state unemployment tax rate was at least 75% of the average benefit-cost ratio over the preceding five calendar years, where the benefit-cost ratio for a year is defined as the amount of benefits and interest paid in the year divided by the total covered wages paid in the year.

Status of Outstanding Loans, Accrued Interest Owed, and State Tax Credit Reductions

Table 2 lists all states that have outstanding loans.²⁶ The table also includes information on accrued interest payments for FY2014. The third column provides information on whether a state was subject to a credit reduction for tax year 2014. The last column provides the net FUTA tax faced by employers in each state that had an outstanding loan.

-

²⁵ The average high-cost multiple (AHCM) is the ratio of actual UTF account balances to the average of the 3 highest years of benefit payments experienced by the state over the past 20 years. Presumably, the average of the 3 highest years' outlays would be a good indicator of potential expected UC payments if another recession were to occur. Under these assumptions, if a state had saved enough funds to pay for an average high year of UC benefit activity, its AHCM would be at least 1.0.

²⁶ If a state is not listed on this table, the state did not have any outstanding loans on January 2, 2015, did not have outstanding interest accruals, and was not subject to a state tax credit reduction on the calculation of the net FUTA tax in 2014.

Table 2. Outstanding Loan Balances, Interest Owed, and Potential State Tax Credit Reduction (January 2, 2015)

State	Outstanding Advance State Balance (\$)		2014 Tax Credit Reduction (%)	2014 Net FUTA Tax (0.6% + credit reductions)	
Arizona	68,342,896	308,122	a	0.6	
Arkansas	0	195	a	0.6	
California	8,613,411,173	50,615,729	1.2	1.8	
Connecticut	432,260,404	2,658,913	1.7	2.3	
Delaware	0	24,989	a	0.6	
Indiana	858,703,627	5,211,355	1.5	2.1	
Kentucky	361,501,563	2,170,918	1.2	1.8	
New York	1,538,869,978	8,619,382	1.2	1.8	
North Carolina	433,752,936	3,232,652	1.2	1.8	
Ohio	1,378,733,853	8,480,069	1.2	1.8	
Rhode Island	0	16,928	a	0.6	
South Carolina	195,489,458	1,525,715	b	0.6	
Virgin Islands	76,890,108	472,880	1.2	1.8	
Totals	13,957,955,997	83,337,850			

Source: Congressional Research Service table prepared using data from the U.S. Bureau of Public Debt, http://www.treasurydirect.gov/govt/reports/tfmp/tfmp_advactivitiessched.htm, and the U.S. Department of Labor http://ows.doleta.gov/unemploy/content/reduced_credit_states.xls. If a state is not listed on this table, the state did not have any outstanding loans on January 2, 2015, did not have outstanding interest accruals, and was not subject to a state tax credit reduction on the calculation of the net FUTA tax in 2014.

- a. Not applicable. State has not had two consecutive January 1s with an outstanding loan balance.
- b. Qualified for avoidance.

Table 3 provides financial information for the UTF accounts. The first column lists the amount of state taxes collected in the previous 12 months. The second column lists the balance of each state's account in the UTF at the end of the 12-month period. The third column calculates the ratio of the trust fund balance to the estimated sum of wages earned by employees in jobs covered by the UC system. The fourth column lists the AHCM, where a number less than 1.0 does not meet DOL's definition of *minimally solvent*. The fifth column reports the outstanding trust fund loan (if any).

The sixth column lists the per employee loan amount (total loans divided by total covered employees). This statistic gives a sense of how much in state taxes per employee would have to be raised if a state were to repay the entire loan amount within one year. The final column lists the ratio of total loans to total covered wages. This ratio aids in the comparison of the size of the loan to the general wage profile in the state.

Table 3. State Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF) Accounts: Financial Information by State, 3rd Quarter Calendar Year 2014

State	Revenues Collected in Previous 12 Months (\$ in thousands)	Trust Fund Balance (\$ in thousands)	Ratio of Trust Fund to Total Covered Wages	Average High Cost Multiple (AHCM)	Outstanding Trust Fund Loan (\$ in thousands)	Loan per Covered Employee (\$)	Percentage of Loans to Year Total Wages i Covered Employment
abama	359,893	340,256	0.56	0.4	_	_	_
aska	216,737	389,551	3.08	1.26	_	_	_
·izona	453,392	2,217	_	N.A.	44,571	18	0.05
·kansas	361,356	186,266	0.53	N.A.	2,982	3	0.01
ılifornia	6,243,440	5,971	_	N.A.	8,042,654	527	1.13
olorado	737,773	653,181	0.65	N.A.	_	_	_
onnecticut	830,207	208,026	0.26	N.A.	432,628	270	0.54
elaware	132,404	27,771	0.16	N.A.	10,628	26	0.06
strict of olumbia	160,354	317,408	0.95	0.9	_	_	_
orida	1,859,537	1,792,725	0.65	0.3	_	_	_
eorgia	878,646	502,056	0.32	N.A.	_	_	_
ıwaii	314,460	383,398	2.04	0.84	_	_	_
iho	222,298	470,128	2.49	N.A.	_	_	_
nois	2,635,814	1,428,851	0.58	N.A.	_	_	_
diana	728,235	4,547	_	N.A.	861,919	310	0.91
wa	483,976	932,684	1.91	1.25	_	_	_
ınsas	394,762	225,949	0.44	0.18	_	_	_
entucky	531,340	_	_	N.A.	358,615	207	0.64
ouisiana	242,333	897,126	1.31	1.26	_	_	_
aine	161,211	312,445	1.90	0.97	_	_	_
aryland	669,527	910,694	0.93	0.76	_	_	_
assachusetts	1,842,434	994,069	0.60	0.23	_	_	_
chigan	1,580,160	2,065,900	1.35	N.A.	_	_	_
nnesota	1,147,744	1,409,230	1.34	0.78	_	_	_
ssissippi	191,690	545,998	1.78	1.61	_	_	_
ssouri	637,842	95,291	0.11	N.A.	_	_	_
ontana	154,579	253,755	1.91	1.1	_	_	_
ebraska	119,475	385,057	1.36	1.73	_	_	_
evada	1,109,261	225,535	0.50	N.A.	_	_	_
ew Hampshire	126,662	282,358	1.19	1.02	_	_	_
ew Jersey	2,881,516	509,480	0.27	N.A.	_	_	_
ew Mexico	222,378	83,269	0.35	0.17	_	_	_

State	Revenues Collected in Previous I 2 Months (\$ in thousands)	Trust Fund Balance (\$ in thousands)	Ratio of Trust Fund to Total Covered Wages	Average High Cost Multiple (AHCM)	Outstanding Trust Fund Loan (\$ in thousands)	Loan per Covered Employee (\$)	Percentage o Loans to Year Total Wages i Covered Employment
ew York	3,591,578	7,290	_	N.A.	1,452,984	170	0.34
orth Carolina	1,430,892	220,742	0.13	N.A.	630,790	162	0.40
orth Dakota	118,659	179,603	1.05	1.08	_	_	_
hio	1,177,802	408,085	0.23	N.A.	1,379,842	278	0.78
klahoma	418,213	1,224,847	2.19	1.99	_	_	_
regon	1,051,688	2,223,728	3.74	1.3	_	_	_
nnsylvania	3,008,724	625,585	0.29	N.A.	_	_	_
erto Rico	194,791	414,062	2.50	0.84	_	_	_
node Island	264,409	37,994	0.23	N.A.	52,644	120	0.33
uth Carolina	480,339	246,804	0.42	N.A.	270,491	149	0.47
uth Dakota	44,488	81,271	0.72	1.13	_	_	_
ennessee	392,374	855,916	0.87	0.79	_	_	_
exas	2,345,405	1,838,402	0.37	N.A.	_	_	_
:ah	336,141	788,402	1.84	1.41	_	_	_
ermont	143,686	146,123	1.67	0.5	_	_	_
rgin Islands	8,947	7,261	0.81	N.A.	76,948	2,080	8.46
rginia	750,642	497,498	0.34	0.21	_	_	_
'ashington	1,369,074	3,340,422	2.66	1.16	_	_	_
'est Virginia	213,365	118,079	0.58	0.31	_	_	_
'isconsin	1,155,552	176,040	0.19	N.A.	_	_	_
'yoming	122,388	340,647	3.53	2.1	_	_	_

Source: Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, *Unemployment Insurance Data Summary*, 3rd Quarter 2014 Report, Washington, DC, 2014, Table: Financial Information by State for CYQ 2014.3 and individual state reports, http://ows.doleta.gov/unemploy/content/data_stats/datasum14/ DataSum_2014_3.pdf.

Notes: Total covered wages are based on extrapolated wages for the most recent 12 months. Trust Fund Balance does not include outstanding debt. States may have obligated some portion of their UTF funds and may be borrowing to fund unemployment benefits even if the state's UTF balance appears to be positive.

N.A. = Not Applicable: these states have outstanding debts that exceed their fund balances. Conversely, "—" no outstanding federal loan (states may have additional loans financed outside of the UTF).

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in Income Security [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.